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UNITED STATE DISTRICT COURT FILED
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EMILY TELLEZ, DORA LARA OCHOA, iEsters AN o T ke
B. DOUGLAS FREEMAN, and 5y
TERESA GOMEZ, on Behalf of Their Minor e
Children, Respectively, and CIVIL ACTION NO
All Those Similarly Situated, Ab_g_CA_i!_O 0 0 LY

Plaintiffs,

V.

CITY OF ROUND ROCK, TEXAS and the
ROUND ROCK INDEPENDENT SCHOOL
DISTRICT,

COMPLAINT
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Defendants,
Plaintiffs Emily Tellez, Dora Lara Ochoa, B. Douglas Freeman, and Teresa Gémez, on
behalf of their respective children and all those similarly situated, who were atrested by the City
of Round Rock police under Section 1.2700 of the City of Round Rock Youth Curfew ordinance
between 9:00am and 2:30pm, on March 30 and 31, 2006, respectfully file this suit against the
City of Round Rock, Texas, and the Round Rock Independent School District and would show:
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
1. Plaintiffs, on behalf of their respective children and all those similarly situated,
complain that the City of Round Rock, in conspiracy with the Round Rock Independent School
District, by and through the actions of its official agents and/or representatives, did violate their
free speech assembly rights, and did violate their right to be free from unlawful arrest and
prosecution -- guaranteed by the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States
Constitution and Article I, §§8 and 27 of the Texas Constitution, and recognized by the Round
Rock Youth Curfew ordinance at issue in this case.

2. Plaintiffs allege that Defendants’ actions were unreasonable and in bad faith.
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14. Plaintiffs’ respective children, along with counsel, will fairly and adequately protect
the interests of the Students. Plaintiffs’ lead counsel Jim Harrington is capable of zealously
representing class interests and is qualified to litigate this type of action. Plaintiffs’ counsel
believes the Students’ claims represent the class completely. Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs’ counsel
will adequately assert and support the legal claims that form the basis of this action. Plaintiffs’
respective children and the Students will benefit equally by virtue of this action if the Court
recognizes and vindicates their constitutional rights as it relates to the youth curfew ordinance
(Section 1.2700).

15.  Plaintiffs, on behalf of their respective children and the Students, meet all
requirements to maintain a class action under the Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b).

16. This class action may be properly maintained under the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure 23(b)(2) because Defendants’ conduct pursuant to their procedures, policies, and/or
practices denied Plaintiffs’ respective children and the Students their constitutional rights and
final declaratory relief will settle the legality of the Defendants’ challenged procedures, policies,
and actions for the class as a whole, relating to the youth curfew ordinance (Section 1.2700).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

17. During a two-day nonviolent, peaceful protest on March 30 and 31, 2006, the City
of Round Rock, in conspiracy with Round Rock ISD, by and through their official agents and/or
representatives, arrested, cited, and placed into custody Plaintiffs’ respective children and the
Students for violation of the City’s Youth Curfew ordinance, Section 1.2700. These Students
were in a public space on a weekday between the hours of 9:00am and 2:30pm for the purpose of

participating in a nationwide protest against proposed federal immigration policies.



Case 1:06-cv-01000-LY  Document1 Filed 12/21/2006 Page 5 of 15

18. The City eventually dismissed its charges against the Students, including Plaintiffs’
respective children, because they were exercising their constitutional rights of freedom of speech
and assembly, which, under the Round Rock Youth Curfew ordinance, constitutes an absolute
defense against enforcement of Section 1.2700. The Youth Curfew ordinance instructs that a
police officer must reasonably believe that an offense has occurred and that no defense exists in
order for the ordinance to be enforcéd. The apparent and self-evident exercise of free speech and
assembly rights of the students precluded a reasonable belief that the ordinance was violated and
enforceable against them.

19. The Youth Curfew ordinance Sections 1.2700-04 provide, in pertinent part:

1.2701 DEFINITIONS
1) Curfew Hours mean:
* * *
¢) 9:00 a.m. until 2:30 p.m. on Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or
Friday.
* % %
1.2702 OFFENSES

1) A minor commits an offense if he remains, walks, runs, stands, drives or rides
about in or upon any public place or on the premises of any establishment within
the city during curfew hours.

* * *

1.2703 DEFENSES

1) TItis a defense to prosecution under 1.2702 that the minor was:

* * *

a) Exercising First Amendment rights protected by the United States
Constitution, such as free exercise of religion, freedom of speech, and the

right of assembly.
* 4 %

1.2704 ENFORCEMENT

1) Before taking any enforcement action under this section, a police officer shall ask
the apparent offender’s age and reason for being in the public place. The officer

-5-
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shall not issue a citation or make an arrest under this section unless the officer
reasonably believes that an offense has occurred and that, based on any response
and other circumstances, no defense in 1.2703 is present.

* * *

20. The Students’ participation on a nationwide protest against proposed federal
immigration policies did not violate the Round Rock Youth Curfew ordinance because under
Section 1.2703, their exercise of First Amendment rights in a public place is an absolute defense.
For that reason, the City of Round Rock eventually dismissed the charges against the Students.
The City and Round Rock ISD conspired to have the students arrested and cited with the
intention of suppressing the students’ exercise of their free speech and assembly rights on March
30 and 31, 2006.

21. The First Amendment activities defense is crucial to the narrow tailoring of the
statute, and its ability to survive strict scrutiny. In Johnson v. City of Opelousas, 658 F.2d 1065,
1074 (5 Cir. 1981), the curfew ordinance did not contain a First Amendment defense and was
ruled unconstitutional. The court stated that “even though the government has a legitimate and
substantial purpose behind the legislation, that purpose cannot be sought by means that ‘broadly
stifle fundamental personal liberties.”” Id at 1071 (quoting Shelton v. Tucker, 364 U.S. 479, 488
(1960). The Johnson Court reasoned that “minors are ‘persons’ under the United States
Constitution, and have fundamental rights which the state must respect.” Id. at 1072 (quoting
Tinker v. Des Moines Indep. Com. Sch. Dist., 393 U.S. 503, 511 (1969). The court went on to
state that “minors ‘are entitled to a significant measure of First Amendment protection.”” Id.

(quoting Erznoznik v. City of Jacksonville, 422 U.S. 205, 212-13 (1975)). Since the Johnson



Case 1:06-cv-01000-LY Document1 Filed 12/21/2006 Page 7 of 15

youth curfew ordinance did not contain a First Amendment defense, it infringed on the
constitutional rights of minors, and was constitutionally overbroad. Id. at 1072-74.

22. In Qutb v. Strauss, 11 F.3d 488, 494 (5th Cir.1993), the court stated the Dallas curfew
ordinance may satisfy strict scrutiny, if it includes defenses respecting the rights of the affected
minors. See also Treacy v. Municipality of Anchorage, 91 P.3d 252, 264 (Alaska 2004) (holding
First Amendment rights are known and comprehended by ordinary citizens, and it is perfectly
clear that core First Amendment activities, such as political protest during curfew hours, would
be protected whereas rollerblading would not).

23. Plaintiffs do not contest the constitutionality of the ordinance as it contains the First
Amendment activities defense. The constitutionally-required defense was applicable as the
Students were participating in a peaceful political protest with other students — an unambiguous
activity clearly protected under the First Amendment. Nonetheless, Defendants caused the
Students, including Plaintiffs’ respective children, to be arrested and cited with a violation of the
Youth Curfew ordinance.

24. According to the facial language of the ordinance, the Students, including Plaintiffs’
respecti;/e children, did not violate the ordinance. Therefore, arresting the Students under the
ordinance violates their free speech and assembly rights, their rights under the Fourth
Amendment to be free from unlawful search and seizure, and their Fourteenth Amendment due
process rights.

25. Moreover, Defendants’ enforcement of the ordinance was done in bad faith because
Defendants lacked the required reasonable belief that the ordinance was violated and enforceable

against the Students.
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26. Pursuant to Section 1.2704, the required steps for proper enforcement of the Round
Rock Youth Curfew ordinance are clear, The police officer is required to ask the apparent
offender’s age and reason for being in the public place before taking any enforcement action.
Here, no police officer did so with respect to the Students including Plaintiffs’ respective
children. Further, a police officer shall not enforce the youth curfew ordinance unless there is a
reasonable belief that an offense has occurred and no defense is present. Section 1.2704. The
Students’ political protest was a clear exercise of their First Amendment rights, which is an
absolute defense to enforcement. Thus, no police officer could have reasonably believed that an
offense occurred and that no defense was present.

27. Under the ordinance, reasonable belief may be considered analogous to probable
cause which “requires that the officer have a reasonable belief that, based on facts and
circumstances within the officer’s personal knowledge, or of which the officer has reasonably
trustworthy information, an offense has been committed.” Torres v. State, 182 S.W.3d 899, 901
(Tex. Crim. App. 2005). To determine probable cause in Texas, the “‘totality of the
circumstances’ test applies.” Id. at 902 (quoting Amores v. State, 816 S.W.2d 407, 413 (Tex.
Crim. App. 1991)). Probable cause is based on a “factual examination of the totality of the
circumstances,” not opinions of the police officer. Id. at 903.

28. In this case, there were no facts to support a reasonable belief of a curfew violation
offense by the Students. Rather, the totality of the facts and circumstances of the case support
the opposite — a political protest in a public space; a valid defense existed. On the dates of the
incident, a large group of people and the Students, including Plaintiffs’ respective chﬂdren, had

assembled, holding signs, and chanting slogans in solidarity to protest proposed federal
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immigration policies. Any reasonable officer would have known the Students’ activities were an
exercise of their First Amendment rights; it was self-evident. That being the case, the
Defendants clearly acted unreasonably and in bad faith, with the intent to suppress protected
activity.

29. Besides depriving the Students of their free speech and assembly rights, Defendants
subjected the Students to humiliating arrests and caused them to appear in court. Defendants
continued to prosecute them until such time as the City Attorney sua sponte dismissed the
charges against each of the Students because of “Insufficient evidence to prove that the
defendant was not exercising his [her] First Amendment rights protected by the United States
Constitution” -- a clear recognition that the arrests and prosecutions under the Youth Curfew
ordinance were unconstitutional.

CAUSES OF ACTION
I. VIOLATION OF FIRST AMENDMENT

30. The First Amendment prohibits laws “abridging the freedom of speech ... or of the
right of the people peaceably to assemble, and the petition the Government for a redress of
grievances.” U.S. CONST. amend. L.

31. Defendants’ unlawful disregard for the Students’ absolute defense under the Round
Rock Youth Curfew ordinance in conjunction with their fundamental rights of freedom of
speech, assembly, and expression of their opinions, clearly violated the First Amendment, and
well-established law thereunder.

32. In enforcing the ordinance, Defendants acted in callous and total disregard of the

U.S. Constitution. Defendants’ actions were objectively unreasonable and done in bad faith.
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I1. CONSPIRACY TO DEPRIVE STUDENTS OF FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS

33. Upon information and belief, Defendant City, at the urging of the Round Rock ISD,
agreed to work in concert with Round Rock ISD, by and through its official agents and/or
representatives to deprive the Students, including Plaintiffs’ respective children, of their federal
and state constitutional rights, described herein.

II. VIOLATION OF FOURTH AMENDMENT

34. The Fourth Amendment guarantees the right “to be secure in their persons, houses,
papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. CONST. amend. V.

35. Defendants conspired together to, and did, deprive the Students, including Plaintiffs’
respective children, of their constitutional right to be free from unlawful arrest and seizure.

36. Defendants violated the Students’ Fourth Amendment rights when they unlawfully
caused their arrests and thereafter prosecuted them.

IV. VIOLATION OF FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT

37. The Fourteenth Amendment guarantees everyone the right of due process. U.S.
CONST. amend. XIV.

38. Defendants conspired together to, and did, deprive the Students, including Plaintiffs’
respective children, of their constitutional right to be free from wrongful prosecution.

V. VIOLATION OF TEXAS BILL OF RIGHTS

39. Defendants also conspired together to, and did, violate the Students’ fundamental

right to free speech and assembly, guaranteed by the Bill of Rights of the Texas Constitution.

TEX. CONST. art. I, §§ 8, 27.

-10-
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40. The Texas Constitution guarantees the rights of the Students to make their views on
any subject known and to assemble together to do so:
Every person shall be at liberty to speak, write or publish his opinions on any

subject, being responsible for the abuse of that privilege; and no law shall ever be
passed curtailing the liberty of speech or of the press.

The citizens shall have the right, in a peaceable manner, to assemble together for

their common good; and apply to those invested with the powers of government

for redress of grievances or other purposes, by petition, address or remonstrance.

TeX. CONST. art. I, §§ 8,27.

41. Defendants abridged the Students’ fundamental state constitutional rights. They
acted in total disregard of the Texas Constitution and long-standing precedent and therefore can
claim no defense or excuse.

42. Moreover, the violation of the Students’ rights results from Defendants’ policies,
practices, and actions to limit the Students’ exercise of a lawful political protest.

43. The Texas Constitution’s right to free speech is more expansive than the
corresponding U.S. Constitutional guarantee. Ex Parte Tucci, 859 S.W.2d 1, 5 (Tex. 1993) (state
courts "have repeatedly rejected both legislative and judicial attempts to restrict expression"); see
O'Quinn v. State Bar of Texas, 763 S.W.2d 397 (Tex. 1988) (Texas free speech guarantee greater
than First Amendment right); Channel 4, KGBT v. Briggs, 759 S.W.2d 939 (Tex. 1988) (id.).

44. The Texas Supreme Court has been particularly hostile to the prior restraint of
speech. Davenport v. Garcia, 834 S.W.2d at 9 ("Under our broader guarantee, it has been and
remains the preference of this court to sanction a speaker after, not before the speech occurs.").

A prior restraint on speech or expression is therefore presumptively unconstitutional and will

withstand scrutiny only under the most extraordinary circumstances. Id. at 10; Ex Parte Price,
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741 S.W.2d 366, 369 (Tex. 1987) (Gonzélez, J., concurring) ("prior restraints ... are subject to
judicial scrutiny with a heavy presumption against their constitutional validity").

45. As the Texas Supreme Court ruled eighty-six years ago: "[I]t has never been the
theory of free institutions that the citizen could say only what courts or legislatures might license
him to say, or that his sentiments on any subject or concerning any person should be supervised
before he could utter them." Ex Parte Tucker, 220 SW. 75, 76 (Tex. 1920). The courts of Texas
have vigorously protected the right to free speech, and have not condoned the prior restraint of
political expression.

DECLARATORY RELIEF

46. Plaintiffs’ respective children and the Students seck declaratory relief that
Defendants conspired to, and did, violate their rights under the Constitutions of the United States
and Texas, as described above.

DAMAGES
47. Plaintiffs’ respective children and the Students are entitled to claim and recover
damages against Defendants for violations of their federally-guaranteed constitutional rights.
They make no claim for damages under the Texas Constitution, only the U.S. Constitution.
ATTORNEYS’ FEES
48. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover attorneys’ fees and costs to enforce their First,
Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights, under 42 U.S.C. §1988, from Defendants.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
THEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that the Court:

A. Certify this action as a class action, as indicated above;

-12-
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B. Enter declaratory judgment, specifying that Defendants conspired to, and did, violate
the Students’ rights under the Constitutions of the United States and Texas, as
described above;

C. Find that the Students are the prevailing party in this case and award attorneys’ 'fees,
costs, expenses, pursuant to state and federal law, as noted;

D. Award damages to the Students for violations of their First, Fourth, and Fourteenth
Amendment rights against Defendants, jointly and severally;

E. Grant such other and further relief as appears reasonable and just, to which the
Students may be entitled.

Dated: December 21, 2006

Respectfully submitted,

EXAS CIVIL RIGHTS PROJECT
1405 Montopolis Drive
Austin, TX 78741

(512) 474-5073 [telephone]

(512) 474-0726 [facsimile]

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFFS
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